REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE				Form Approved OMB NO. 0704-0188
Public Reporting burden for this collection of inform and completing and reviewing the collection of info Headquarters Services, Directorate for information ( (1704-0128) Washington DC 20503	nation is estimated to average 1 hour per response, incl rmation. Send comment regarding this burden estimate Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway	uding the time for reviewing instru- es or any other aspect of this collect , Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202	ctions, searching exi- tion of information, -4302, and to the Off	sting data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Washington fice of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave Blank)	2. REPORT DATE 1/8/99		3. REPORT T Final Pr	YPE AND DATES COVERED ogress 7/1/92 - 6/30/98
4. TITLE AND SUBTILE Investigation of Flui Processes in Heteroge 6. AUTHOR(S)	id Flow and Contaminan eneous Multiphase Syst	t Transport ems	5. FUNDING NU	MBERS DAAL03-92-G-0111
Dr. Cass T. miller				
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Chapel Hill, NC 27599-7400			8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER	
<ul> <li>9. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)</li> <li>U. S. Army Research Office</li> <li>D.O. Day 12211</li> </ul>			10. SPONSORING AGENCY RE	G / MONITORING PORT NUMBER
Research Triangle Park, NC 2	7709-2211		ARO	30377.56-EV-URI
11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES The views, opinions and/or findi Army position, policy or decision, u	ngs contained in this report are those nless so designated by other document	of the author(s) and sho tation.	uld not be con	strued as an official Department of the
12 a. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY STATEMENT			12 b. DISTRIBUTION CODE	
Approved for public release; distr	ibution unlimited.			
13. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 words) The experimental results, Research Initiative pprocesses in heteroge journal articles, boc presentations and abs associates, doctoral contributions to the significant impact the area.	ais final technical rep and continuum and sto project focused on mult eneous multiphase syste ok chapters, reports, n stracts produced from students, and masters scientific literature hat this project has on	port summarize ochastic model tiphase fluid ems. This rep newsletter art this project, students supp produced by t n advancing ba	s the gouing resu flow and ort also icles, and and list orted by his proj sic scient	als, objectives, lts from an University contaminant transport annotates the many nd professional meeting s the post doctoral this project. The vast ect demonstrate the nce in this important
14. SUBJECT TERMS			·	15. NUMBER OF PAGES
Multiphase, porous media, modeling, stochastic analysis				36
•				16. PRICE CODE
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OR REPORT UNCLASSIFIED	18. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION ON THIS PAGE UNCLASSIFIED	19. SECURITY CLASS OF ABSTRACT UNCLAS	FICATION SIFIED	20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT UL
NSN 7540-01-280-5500		24 		Standard Form 298 (Rev.2-89) Prescribed by ANSI Std. 239-18 298-102

# 19990616 127

al e c

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE			Form Approved OMB NO. 0704-0188	
Public Reporting burden for this collection of inform and completing and reviewing the collection of infor Headquarters Services, Directorate for information ( (0704-0188), Washington, DC 20503.	nation is estimated to average 1 hour per response, incluc rmation. Send comment regarding this burden estimates Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway,	or any other aspect of this collection Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-430	Is, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Washington 2, and to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project	
1. AGENCY USE ONLY ( Leave Blank)	2. REPORT DATE 1/8/99	3. Fi	REPORT TYPE AND DATES COVERED inal Progress 7/1/92 - 6/30/98	
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE Investigation of Fluid Flow and Contaminant Transport Processes in Heterogeneous Multiphase Systems 6. AUTHOR(S)			UNDING NUMBERS DAAL03-92-G-0111	
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Chapel Hill, NC 27599-7400			8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER	
<ul> <li>9. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)</li> <li>U. S. Army Research Office</li> <li>P.O. Box 12211</li> </ul>			SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY REPORT NUMBER	
Research Triangle Park, NC 2 <sup>2</sup>	7709-2211		ARO 30377.56-EV-URI	
11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES The views, opinions and/or findi Army position, policy or decision, u	ngs contained in this report are those o aless so designated by other documenta	f the author(s) and should tion.	not be construed as an official Department of the	
12 a. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY STATEMENT			12 b. DISTRIBUTION CODE	
Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.				
13. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 words) The experimental results, Research Initiative p processes in heteroge journal articles, boo presentations and abs associates, doctoral contributions to the significant impact the area.	is final technical rep and continuum and sto project focused on mult neous multiphase syste k chapters, reports, n tracts produced from t students, and masters scientific literature at this project has on	ort summarizes chastic modelin iphase fluid fl ms. This repor ewsletter artic his project, an students suppor produced by thi advancing basi	the goals, objectives, ag results from an University ow and contaminant transport t also annotates the many les, and professional meeting d lists the post doctoral ted by this project. The vast s project demonstrate the c science in this important	
14. SUBJECT TERMS			15. NUMBER OF PAGES	
Multiphase, porous media, modeling, stochastic analysis			36	
			16. PRICE CODE	
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OR REPORT UNCLASSIFIED NSN 7540-01-280-5500	18. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION ON THIS PAGE UNCLASSIFIED	19. SECURITY CLASSIFIC OF ABSTRACT UNCLASSIF	ATION 20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT IED UL Standard Form 298 (Rev.2-89) Prescribed by ANSI Std. 239-18 298-102	

4

ł

DTIC QUALITY INSPECTED 4

# 19990616 127

## Investigation of Fluid Flow and Contaminant Transport Processes in Heterogeneous Multiphase Systems

.

Contract/Grant Number: DAAL03-92-G-0111

Final Report: 7/1/92 - 6/30/98

January 8, 1999

### **Table of Contents**

•

.

Introduction	1	
Goals	1	
Objectives	1	
Summary		
Experimental Results		
Modeling Results	3	
Stochastic Modeling Results	3	
Publications and Technical Reports		
Journal Articles		
Books	12	
Book Chapters	12	
Conference Proceedings	12	
Technical Reports	20	
Theses and Dissertations		
Participating Personnel		
Inventions		
Bibliography		
Annendixes		
Appendixes		

-

#### Introduction

Goals

To develop improved methods for assessing and remediating subsurface environments that are contaminated with fluids that are immiscible with water, such as petroleum products and chlorinated solvents.

#### **Objectives**

to gain an improved fundamental understanding of flow and transport phenomena in heterogeneous multiphase systems

to utilize this improved understanding to advance more effective strategies for monitoring, modeling, remediating and making technically-based decisions for such systems

to disseminate/distribute this knowledge to the DoD groundwater community

#### Summary

#### **Experimental Results**

Due to our extensive laboratory capabilities, the Center for Multiphase Research (CMR) is in a position to capture unique and quantitative data sets, thus allowing us to examine processes at a much more fundamental level than most investigations. These data sets are also extremely beneficial for validating numerical simulations. This work will lead to improved evaluation of exposure and more efficient remediation methods. In particular, we have made progress in the following areas:

1. Improved understanding of multiphase flow phenomena, especially the residualfunicular relationship. One of the constitutive relations used in the modeling of multiphase flow is the pressure-saturation relation. The value of residual nonaqueous phase liquid (NAPL) saturation is a function of the funicular (connected) NAPL saturation reached during NAPL migration. Long-column experiments have been performed that will lead to a better understanding of the residual-funicular relationship, an important part of the pressure-saturation constitutive relation. This knowledge will lead to improved modeling of subsurface flow and transport.

2. Improved understanding of the mass transfer limiting processes during partitioning tracer tests. Partitioning tracer tests, used for estimating the mass of NAPL in a contaminated, subsurface system, have been validated only for systems where the NAPL saturation is at or below residual—our work is focusing on medium- and high-saturation NAPL pools. We believe that mass transfer limitations under these saturation conditions may lead to low estimates of the NAPL mass. In a one-dimensional column, a NAPL pool is created by injecting NAPL into a coarse layer bounded above and below by fine media, thus trapping a "pool" of NAPL. Quantitative visual, aqueous phase concentration, and saturation data is collected throughout the experiments. This data set allows us to develop mass transfer relations and to validate numerical models. This tracer work will also benefit our ongoing mesoscale investigation of NAPL pools.

3. Improved understanding of the mobilization processes during surfactant-enhanced remediation. It is very important during remediation techniques that the processes are well-understood and controlled in order to prevent the contaminant from migrating to formerly pristine regions of the aquifer. In a bench-scale rectangular cell, glass-bead media contaminated with NAPL were remediated using a mixture of two food-grade surfactants. Flow characteristics were found to depend on the relationship between the gravitational, viscous, and capillary forces. Quantitative visual, aqueous-phase concentration, and pressure data were collected during the experiments. This unique data set will allow quantitative validations of numerical models describing these processes and will allow us to provide guidelines and recommendations concerning flow and chemical conditions during surfactant-enhanced remediation schemes. In addition, pore-scale dynamics were observed that are not currently accounted for in standard multiphase numerical simulations—an observation that warrants further investigation.

4. Work is continuing on the meter-scale (mesoscale) experiments investigating the factors that control the formation and morphology of NAPL pools in heterogeneous subsurface systems. A second experiment is in progress and much-needed work was accomplished that will have a positive impact on the mesoscale experiments: improved X-ray techniques, optimization of X-ray methods, partitioning tracer column experiments, and the NAPL mobilization studies. This additional theoretical and experimental work will greatly enhance the quality of the mesoscale experiments.

#### Modeling Results

The CMR has access to a wide range of computing resources. In addition to the some of the latest and most powerful workstations, we have consistently received thousands of hours of supercomputer time from the North Carolina Supercomputing Center. Recently, we have been provided computer time and access to supercomputers at WES. These capabilities have allowed us to make many advancements in the modeling of groundwater flow and transport.

1. Improved understanding of the NAPL-aqueous phase mass transfer process, particularly in regard to dissolution fingering. Dissolution fingering refers to the pattern of a NAPL dissolution front that results from even minor heterogeneities in the initial distribution of NAPL. This fingering can cause the mass transfer zone to assume a complex shape that requires potentially long time and length scales to develop fully. Using a multiphase numerical simulator, we are continuing to conduct numerical experiments that simulate the development of dissolution fingers in a mildly heterogeneous porous medium. Current investigations include improvement of numerical methods for simulating these processes and the impact of field-scale heterogeneities on dissolution fingering.

2. Improved problem-solving environments (e.g., object-oriented programming) and numerical techniques (e.g., Richards equation). In the past year, we have made two significant improvements in the numerical modeling of Richards equation,; an equation for solving for water flow in partially saturated porous media. This problem is highly nonlinear and difficult to solve. Four existing and one new transformation method were compared for a wide range of media properties and shown to improve the efficiency and robustness compared to standard solution approaches. The other problem addressed was the numerical convergence difficulties associated with using typical capillary pressuresaturation-relative permeability relations. Here, an integral permeability approach was introduced and used. This technique has proved to be much more robust and economical for a wide range of test problems than standard solution techniques.

#### **Stochastic Modeling Results**

Part of the CMR Research Group is involved in the development and application of stochastic methods to solve groundwater flow and transport problems and environmental analysis.

1. Following up on the work of previous years, numerical aspects of the spacetransformation approach for the solution of the groundwater flow equation have been further investigated. We have improved the numerical codes to increase the efficiency, and studied the effects of model parameters on performance. The method has also been compared with standard finite-difference solvers and proved superior in computational speed. We proposed a novel mathematical approach based on differential geometry for the solution of multiphase flow equations in stochastic porous media. The characteristic of this approach is that the flow equations are expressed along the flowpaths of the different phases, thus allowing a one-dimensional formulation of the problem along the pathlines. The flowpath method is strongly related to space transforms. An iterative numerical solver based on the flowpath method was developed and used successfully for determining the flowpaths in a two-dimensional random medium. The space transformation and diagrammatic techniques developed by our group were proven to be successful tools for modeling studies. The space transformation approach leads to more efficient numerical codes than other standard techniques. In addition, it has strong links to the flowpath method for multiphase flow, which also promises to be an efficient tool for solving flow models that include more than one contaminant phase.

. . .

2. We investigated the application of the diagrammatic technique to the calculation of effective parameters of three-dimensional, heterogeneous flow domains. In the past year, we further pursued this work in order to estimate the scaling of effective parameters in the pre-asymptotic, non-ergodic regime. We introduced a new variational method of stochastic averaging and thus obtained the equations which govern the pre-asymptotic behavior of effective parameters. The results of the variational approach are valid for larger heterogeneities than leading-order perturbation, and they agree with the latter in the case of weak heterogeneity. We tested our approach with laboratory measurements of permeabilities and found excellent agreement. Finally, we obtained a scaling function for the effective permeability as a function of the domain scale. Based on this result we predict that non-stationary random field models are required in order to capture the behavior of large-scale measurements of hydrologic parameters. The diagrammatic approach permits explicit calculations with better accuracy than currently used low-order perturbation approximations. We were the first to publish in the hydrologic literature detailed studies of contamination problems using these techniques. Since then several papers have appeared which base their analysis on our original results. A significant result of our work is the conclusion that the class of random models that is routinely used in subsurface hydrology is inadequate for characterizing large-scale behavior.

3. An extension of previous work on spatial indicators to space/time indicator parameters for nonhomogeneous/nonstationary processes is currently under way. Such indicator parameters provide useful tools for exposure and health risk assessment that incorporate quantitative measures of the uncertainty due to incomplete information and the space/time variability. Hazardous waste site characterization is extremely valuable in health management and environmental decision-making. The health effects of contaminants are closely related to the adequate characterization of the spatial/temporal heterogeneity and the information available. Stochastic indicator analysis can improve the accuracy of statistical estimates of contaminant concentrations leading to more accurate exposure

assessment and consequently better evaluation of the health impacts of environmental contaminants.

4. We have built on previous progress in spatiotemporal analysis. New space/time covariance models have been constructed based on the theory of spatiotemporal random fields (S/TRF) that allow the rigorous characterization of space/time variabilities and heterogeneities. We have found an asymmetry in the time component of the generalized covariance that leads to more compact models than earlier work in the case of correlated In addition, the numerical codes for space/time estimation are being residuals. continuously updated and improved in order to optimize numerical operations. A new estimation approach based on the Bayesian Maximum Entropy (BME) concept has also been proposed and investigated. The BME estimator is non-linear, and it does not suffer from the restrictive assumptions of the linear kriging technique. Moreover, the BME can incorporate information from soft data, and it also allows for updating of the estimates in light of new information. Preliminary numerical studies have been conducted which provide strong evidence for the advantages of the BME method compared with the standard kriging methods. The new estimation techniques that we are developing based on the BME approach are powerful tools that allow far greater flexibility than the currently used kriging estimators.

#### **Publications and Technical Reports**

#### **Journal Articles**

Barry, D. A., C. T. Miller, and P. J. Culligan-Hensley. "Temporal Discretization Errors in Non-Iterative Split-Operator Approaches to Solving Chemical Reaction/Groundwater Transport Models." *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology* 22, no. 1/2 (1996): 1-17.

Barry, D. A., C. T. Miller, P. J. Culligan, and K. Bajracharya. "Analysis of Split Operator Methods for Nonlinear and Multispecies Groundwater Chemical Transport Models." *Mathematics and Computers in Simulation* 43 (1997): 331-341.

Bogaert, P., and G. Christakos. "Spatiotemporal Analysis and Processing of Thermometric Data Over Belgium." in Review, Journal of Geophysical Research (1997).

Butterworth, J. and J. F. Prins. "A comparison of lattice gas automata implementations on the MasPar MP-1." *Parallel Computational Fluid Dynamics* (1993): 63-74.

Cassiani, G., and G. Christakos. "Analysis and Estimation of Spatial Non-Homogeneous Natural Processes Using Secondary Information." *In Press: Mathematical Geology* (1997).

-------. "Stochastic Analysis and Estimation of Spatial Non-Homogeneous Natural Processes Using Secondary Information." *in Press, Mathematical Geology* (1997).

Christakos, G. "Spatiotemporal Information Systems in Soil and Environmental Sciences." *Geoderma* 85, no. 2-3 (1998): 141-179.

Christakos, G., and P. Bogaert. "Spatiotemporal Analysis of Springwater Ion Processes Derived From Measurements at the Dyle Basin in Belgium." *IEEE Transactions in Geosciences and Remote Sensing* 34, no. 3 (1996): 626-642.

Christakos, G., and D. T. Hristopulos. "Stochastic Analysis of Non-Local Porous Media Flow and Scaling of Effective Parameters Using a Non-Perturbative Replica-Variational Approach." *in Review, Water Resources Research* (1997).

———. "Stochastic Indicators for Waste Site Characterization." Water Resources Research 32, no. 8 (1996): 2563-2578.

———. "Stochastic Radon Operators in Porous Media Hydrodynamics." in Press, Quarterly of Applied Mathematics (1997).

————. "Stochastic Space Transformation Techniques in Subsurface Hydrology--Part 2: Generalized Spectral Decompositions and Plancherel Representations." *Stochastic Hydrology and Hydraulics* 8, no. 2 (1994): 117-155.

Christakos, G., D. T. Hristopulos, and X. Li. "Flowpath Analysis of Multiphase Flow in Random Porous Media." *in Review, Physical Review E* (1997).

———. "Multiphase Flow in Heterogeneous Porous Media: A Stochastic Differential Geometry Viewpoint." *Water Resources Research* 34, no. 1 (1998): 93-102.

Christakos, G., D. T. Hristopulos, and C. T. Miller. "Stochastic Diagrammatic Analysis of Groundwater Flow in Heterogeneous Porous Media." *Water Resources Research* 31, no. 7 (1995): 1687-1703.

Christakos, G., and B. R. Killam. "Sampling Design for Classifying Contaminant Level Using Annealing Search Algorithms." *Water Resources Research* 29, no. 12 (1993): 4063-4076.

Christakos, G., and X. Li. "Bayesian Maximum Entropy Analysis and Mapping: A Farewell to Kriging Estimators?" *Mathematical Geology* 30, no. 3 (1998): 435-462.

Christakos, G., C. T. Miller, and D. Oliver. "The Development of Stochastic Space Transformation and Diagrammatic Perturbation Techniques in Subsurface Hydrology." *Stochastic Hydrology and Hydraulics* 7, no. 1 (1993): 14-32.

———. "Stochastic Flow Modelling in Terms of Interactive Perturbation, Feynman Diagrams and Graph Theory." *IEEE, Banking on Technology* BT-93 (1993): 77-84.

Christakos, G., and V. R. Raghu. "Dynamic Stochastic Estimation of Physical Variables." *Mathematical Geology* 28, no. 3 (1996): 341-365.

Christakos, G., and V. Vyas. "A Novel Method for Studying Population Health Impacts of Spatiotemporal Ozone Distribution." *Social Science and Medicine* 47, no. 8 (1998): 1051-1066.

Christakos, G., and V. M. Vyas. "A Study of Ozone Distribution Over Eastern United

States: Part I: Spatiotemporal Variation." in Review, Atmospheric Environment (1997).

———. "A Study of Ozone Distribution Over Eastern United States: Part II: Health Impact." in Review, Atmospheric Environment (1997).

Grimberg, S. J., C. T. Miller, and M. D. Aitken. "Surfactant-Enhanced Dissolution of Phenanthrene into Water for Laminar Flow Conditions." *Environmental Science & Technology* 30, no. 10 (1996): 2967-2974.

Hristopulos, D. T., and G. Christakos. "Diagrammatic Theory of Nonlocal Effective Hydraulic Conductivity." In Press: Journal of Stochastic Hydrology and Hydraulics (1997).

———. "Implementation of a Space Transformation Approach for Solving the Three-Dimensional Flow Equation." in Review, SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing (1997).

Hristopulos, D. T., G. Christakos, and C. T. Miller. "Stochastic Modeling of Heterogeneity in Groundwater Flow and Transport Systems." *CMR News* 1, no. 2 (1994): 1-4.

Hristopulos, D. T., G. Christakos, and M. L. Serre. "Implementation of a Space Transform Approach for Solving the Three-Dimensional Flow Equation." *in Press, SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing* (1998).

Imhoff, P. T., M. H. Arthur, and C. T. Miller. "Complete Dissolution of Trichloroethylene in Saturated Porous Media." *Environmental Science & Technology* 32, no. 16 (1998): 2417-2424.

Imhoff, P. T., A. Frizzell, and C. T. Miller. "An Evaluation of Thermal Effects on the Dissolution of a Nonaqueous Phase Liquid in Porous Media." *Environmental Science & Technology* 31, no. 6 (1997): 1615-1622.

———. "An Evaluation of Thermal Effects on the Dissolution of a Nonaqueous Phase Liquid in Porous Media." CMR News 2, no. 1 (1995): 1-4.

Imhoff, P. T., S. N. Gleyzer, J. F. McBride, L. A. Vancho, I. Okuda, and C. T. Miller. "Cosolvent-Enhanced Remediation of a Residual Dense Nonaqueous Phase Liquid." *CMR News* 2, no. 1 (1995): 5-9.

Imhoff, P. T., and C. T. Miller. "Dissolution Fingering During the Solubilization of Nonaqueous Phase Liquids in Saturated Porous Media 1. Model Predictions." *Water Resources Research* 32, no. 7 (1996): 1919-1928.

Imhoff, P. T., G. P. Thyrum, and C. T. Miller. "Dissolution Fingering During the Solubilization of Nonaqueous Phase Liquids in Saturated Porous Media 2. Experimental Observations." *Water Resources Research* 32, no. 7 (1996): 1929-1942.

------. "The Effect of Dissolution Fingers on the Removal of Nonaqueous Phase Liquids From Groundwater." CMR News 1, no. 1 (1994): 4-6.

Kanney, J. F., P. B. Calvin, and C. T. Miller. "Object-Oriented Modeling of Subsurface Flow and Transport Phenomena." CMR News 2, no. 2 (1996): 11-17.

Kees, C. E., and C. T. Miller. "C++ Implementations of Numerical Methods for Solving Differential-Algebraic Equations: Design and Optimization Considerations." *in Review* (1998).

Kelley, C. T., C. T. Miller, and M. D. Tocci. "Termination of Newton/Chord Iterations and the Method of Lines." SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing 19 (1998): 280-290.

Lowry, M. I., and C. T. Miller. "Pore-Scale Modeling of Nonwetting-Phase Residual in Porous Media." *CMR News* 1, no. 1 (1994): 7-9.

-------. "Pore-Scale Modeling of Nonwetting-Phase Residual in Porous Media." Water Resources Research 31, no. 3 (1995): 455-473.

Mayer, A. S., and C. T. Miller. "An Experimental Investigation of Pore-Scale Distributions of Nonaqueous Phase Liquids at Residual Saturation." *Transport in Porous Media* 10, no. 1 (1993): 57-80.

------. "The Influence of Mass Transfer Characteristics and Porous Media Heterogeneity on Nonaqueous Phase Dissolution." *Water Resources Research* 32, no. 6 (1996): 1551-1567.

McBride, J. F., and C. T. Miller. "Measurement of Phase Fractions in Porous Media by Using X-Rays 1. Theoretical Considerations ." in Review (1997).

———. "Measurement of Phase Fractions in Porous Media by Using X-Rays 2. Applications." in Review (1997).

———. "Nondestructive Measurement of Phase Fractions in Multiphase Porous-Media Experiments by Using X-Ray Attenuation." *CMR News* 1, no. 1 (1994): 10-13.

Miller, C. T., G. Christakos, P. T. Imhoff, J. F. McBride, J. A. Pedit, and J. A. Trangenstein. "Multiphase Flow and Transport Modeling in Heterogeneous Porous Media: Challenges and Approaches." *Advances in Water Resources* 21, no. 2 (1998): 77-120.

Miller, C. T., and P. T. Imhoff. "Formulating Models for Multiphase Flow and Transport in Heterogeneous Porous Media: Challenges and Approaches." *CMR News* 2, no. 2 (1996): 1-6.

Miller, C. T., and A. S. Mayer. "NAPL Dissolution in Heterogeneous Porous Media." CMR News 2, no. 2 (1996): 7-10.

Miller, C. T., and A. J. Rabideau. "Development of Split-Operator, Petrov-Galerkin Methods to Simulate Transport and Diffusion Problems." *Water Resources Research* 29, no. 7 (1993): 2227-2240.

Miller, C. T., G. A. Williams, C. T. Kelley, and M. D. Tocci. "Robust Solution of Richards' Equation for Non-Uniform Porous Media." *in Press, Water Resources Research* (1998).

Okuda, I., S. N. Gleyzer, J. F. McBride, and C. T. Miller. "Surfactant-Enhanced Removal of Tetrachloroethylene From Porous Media." *CMR News* 2, no. 1 (1995): 10-16.

Okuda, I., J. F. McBride, S. N. Gleyzer, and C. T. Miller. "An Investigation of Physicochemical Transport Processes Affecting the Removal of Residual DNAPL by Nonionic Surfactant Solutions." *Environmental Science & Technology* 30, no. 6 (1996): 1852-1860.

Oliver, L. D., and G. Christakos. "A Diagrammatic Technique for Stochastic Flow Modeling." CMR News 1, no. 2 (1994): 5-8.

Oliver, L. D., G. Christakos, and D. T. Hristopulos. "Implementation of a Space Transformation Approach for Solving the Three-Dimensional Flow Equation." *CMR News* 1, no. 2 (1994): 9-13.

------. "Numerical Implementation of a Space Transformation Approach for Solving the Three-Dimensional Flow Equation." *in Review, Water Resources Research* (1996).

Pedit, J. A., K. J. Iwamasa, C. T. Miller, and W. H. Glaze. "Development of a Gas-Liquid Contactor Model to Simulate Advanced Oxidation Processes." *in Review* (1997).

Pedit, J. A., and C. T. Miller. "Comment on "A Distributed Reactivity Model for Sorption by Soils and Sediments. 4. Intraparticle Heterogeneity and Phase-Distribution Relationships Under Nonequilibrium Conditions"." *Environmental Science & Technology* 30, no. 10 (1996): 3128-3129.

———. "Heterogeneous Sorption Processes in Subsurface Systems, 1. Model Formulations and Applications." *Environmental Science & Technology* 28, no. 12 (1994): 2094-2104.

———. "Heterogeneous Sorption Processes in Subsurface Systems. 2. Diffusion Modeling Approaches." *Environmental Science & Technology* 29, no. 7 (1995): 1766-1772.

———. "Heterogeneous Sorption Processes in Subsurface Systems: Development and Application of Models to Batch Systems." *CMR News* 1, no. 1 (1994): 1-3.

Rabideau, A. J., and C. T. Miller. "Two-Dimensional Modeling of Aquifer Remediation Influenced by Sorption Nonequilibrium and Hydraulic Conductivity Heterogeneity." *Water Resources Research* 30, no. 5 (1994): 1457-1470.

Szatkowski, A., P. T. Imhoff, and C. T. Miller. "Development of a Correlation for Aqueous-Vapor Phase Mass Transfer in Porous Media." *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology* 18, no. 1 (1995): 85-106.

Tocci, M. D., C. T. Kelley, and C. T. Miller. "Accurate and Economical Solution of the Pressure-Head Form of Richards' Equation by the Method of Lines." Advances in Water Resources 20, no. 1 (1997): 1-14.

Vyas, V. M., and G. Christakos. "Spatiotemporal Analysis and Mapping of Sulfate Deposition Data Over the Conterminous USA." In Press: Atmospheric Environment (1997).

Williams, G. A., and C. T. Miller. "An Evaluation of Temporally Adaptive Transformation Approaches for Solving Richards' Equation." *in Review, Advances in Water Resources* (1998).

Williams, G. A., C. T. Miller, and C. T. Kelley. "Transformation Approaches for Simulating Flow in Variably Saturated Porous Media." in Review, Water Resources

#### Research (1998).

Williams, G. A., C. T. Miller, C. T. Kelley, and M. D. Tocci. "Approaches to Modeling Richards' Equation." CMR News 2, no. 2 (1996): 18-26.

Willson, C. S., J. L. Hall, P. T. Imhoff, and C. T. Miller. "Factors Affecting Bank Formation During Surfactant-Enhanced Mobilization of Residual NAPL." *in Review* (1998).

Yang, A., C. T. Miller, and L. D. Turcoliver. "Simulation of Correlated and Uncorrelated Packing of Random Size Spheres." *Physical Review E* 53, no. 2 (1996): 1516-1524.

#### Books

Christakos, G., and D. T. Hristopulos. Spatiotemporal Environmental Health Modelling: A Tractatus Stochasticus. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1998.

#### **Book Chapters**

Arge, E., A. M. Bruaset, P. B. Calvin, J. F. Kanney, H. P. Langtangen, and C. T. Miller. "On the Numerical Efficiency of C++ in Scientific Computing." *Numerical Methods and Software Tools in Industrial Mathematics*. eds. M. Daehlen, and A. Tveito, 91-118. Boston, MA: Birkhäuser, 1997.

Christakos, G., C. T. Miller, and D. Oliver. "Cleopatra's Nose and the Diagrammatic Approach to Flow Modelling in Random Porous Media." *Geostatistics for the Next Century.*, 341-358. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Kluver Academic Publishers, 1994.

Gilmore, P., C. Kelley, C. T. Miller, and G. Williams. "Implicit Filtering and Optimal Design Problems." *Optimal Design and Control.* Eds. J. Borggaard, J. Burkardt, M. Gunzburger, and J. Peterson, 159-176. Boston: Birkhäuser, 1995.

Miller, C. T., S. N. Gleyzer, and P. T. Imhoff. "Numerical Modeling of NAPL Dissolution Fingering in Porous Media." *Physical Nonequilibrium in Soils: Modeling and Application.* Eds. H. M. Selim, and L. Ma Ann Arbor, MI: Ann Arbor Press, 1998.

#### **Conference Proceedings**

Arge, E., A. M. Bruaset, P. B. Calvin, J. F. Kanney, H. P. Langtangen, and C. T. Miller. "Numerical Efficiency of C++ in Scientific Computing." *Advanced Simulation of Subsurface Flow and Contaminant Transport* Cray Research, Inc. and the North Carolina Supercomputing Center, 1996.

Arthur, M., P. T. Imhoff, and C. T. Miller. "Dissolution of Nonaqueous Phase Liquids at

Low Saturation." American Geophysical Union Spring Meeting, 5129. EOS Transactions, 1995.

Barry, D. A., C. T. Miller, and K. Bajracharya. "An Improved Split-Operator Algorithm for Solving Coupled Solute Transport and Reaction Equations." *EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, American Geophysical Union Fall Meeting* 1994.

Barry, D. A., C. T. Miller, P. J. Culligan, and K. Bajracharya. "Split Operator Methods for Reactive Chemical Transport in Groundwater." *Proceeding of the International Conference on Modelling and Simulation 1995: MODSIM95* New South Wales: Modelling and Simulation Society of Australia, Inc., 1995.

Calvin, P. B., J. F. Kanney, and C. T. Miller. "Efficient Object-Oriented Simulation of 3-D Transport in Porous Media." *American Geophysical Union Spring Meeting*, 5130. EOS Transactions, 1995.

Choi, K.-M., G. Christakos, and M. L. Serre. "Recent Developments in Vectorial and Multi-Point BME Analysis." *Proceedings of the Fourth Annual Conference of the International Association for Mathematical Geology*, 91-96 Naples, Italy: De Frede Editore, 1998.

Christakos, G. "Diagrammatic Perturbation Analysis of Stochastic Groundwater Flow." *Third SIAM Conference on Mathematical and Computational Issues in the Geosciences* Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 1995.

Christakos, G. "Stochastic Analysis of Spatiotemporal Natural Processes." American Society of Agronomy/Crop Science Society of America/ Soil Science Society of America Conference 1996.

Christakos, G., and D. T. Hristopulos. "Stochastic Characterization of Contaminated Sites." American Geophysical Union Spring Meeting, S138. EOS Transactions, 1995.

Christakos, G., D. Hristopulos, L. D. Oliver, and C. T. Miller. "Stochastic Analysis of Flow in Saturated Porous Media Systems." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, Fall Meeting, 250 1993.

Christakos, G., C. T. Miller, and D. Oliver. "Analysis of Methods for Closure of the Stochastic Groundwater Flow Equation." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical

Union, Fall Meeting, 171 1992.

Christakos, G., V. R. Raghu, and P. Bogaert. "Stochastic Analysis of Spatiotemporal Water Quality Data." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, Fall Meeting, 46 1995.

Cornew, F. H., and C. T. Miller. "A Gradient Petrov-Galerkin Method for Resolving Advective-Dominated Transport." *EOS Transactions*, 135 Montreal, Canada: American Geophysical Union, 1992.

Corson, D., J. A. Pedit, and C. T. Miller. "Sorption of Naphthalene and Phenanthrene by Aquifer Sands." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, S136 1995.

Farthing, M. W., C. E. Kees, and C. T. Miller. "Object-Oriented Simulation of Multiphase Flow and Transport Phenomena." Advanced Simulation of Subsurface Flow and Contaminant Transport Cray Research, Inc. and the North Carolina Supercomputing Center, 1996.

Gleyzer, S. N., M. W. Farthing, and C. T. Miller. "High-Resolution ENO Schemes for the Simulation of Advection and Dispersion Problems." *American Geophysical Union Fall Meeting*, F214. EOS Transactions, Baltimore, MD: American Geophysical Union, 1997.

Gleyzer, S. N., C. T. Miller, and P. T. Imhoff. "NAPL Dissolution Fingering in Homogeneous and Heterogeneous Porous Media." Superfund Basic Research Program: A Decade of Improving Health Through Multi-Disciplinary Research National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, 1997.

———. "Numerical Modeling of NAPL Dissolution Fingering." American Geophysical Union Spring Meeting. EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, 1997.

Gleyzer, S. N., C. T. Miller, P. T. Imhoff, and J. F. McBride. "Experimental and Theoretical Investigation of the Use of Polyethylene Glycols for Alcohol-Enhanced Aquifer Remediation." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, 254 1994.

Gleyzer, S. N., C. T. Miller, I. Okuda, P. T. Imhoff, and J. F. McBride. "Experimental and Theoretical Investigation of the Use of Polyethylene Glycols for Alcohol-Enhanced Aquifer Remediation." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, Spring Meeting 1994.

Hall, J. L., P. T. Imhoff, C. S. Willson, and C. T. Miller. "Surfactant-Enhanced Mobilization of Dense Nonaqueous Phase Liquids in Porous Media." Superfund Basic Research Program: A Decade of Improving Health Through Multi-Disciplinary Research National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, 1997.

Houyoux, M. R., and C. T. Miller. "An Evaluation of Decision Making for Aquifer

Restoration." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, S138 1995.

Hristopulos, D. T., and G. Christakos. "An Analysis of Hydraulic Conductivity Upscaling." *Proceedings of the Second World Congress of Nonlinear Analysts*, in press Elsevier Science, 1997.

-------. "Modeling of Nonlocality and Nonhomogeneity in the Hydraulic Conductivity." American Geophysical Union Spring Meeting, S138. EOS Transactions, 1995.

———. "Nonlocal Kernels and Upscaling of Effective Parameters." American Geophysical Union, Fall Meeting, F277. EOS Transactions, 1996.

Imhoff, P. T., M. H. Arthur, A. Frizzell, E. H. Hill III, S. N. Gleyzer, and C. T. Miller. "Nonaqueous-Aqueous Phase Mass Transfer During Hot Water Flushing, at Low Nonaqueous Phase Saturations, and in Mesoscale Experiments." Gordon Research Conference: Modeling of Flow in Permeable Media 1996.

Imhoff, P. T., S. N. Gleyzer, and C. T. Miller. "Self-Affine Fractal Interfaces From NAPL Dissolution Fingering." American Geophysical Union Fall Meeting, F312. EOS Transactions, Baltimore, MD: American Geophysical Union, 1997.

Imhoff, P. T., E. H. Hill III, S. N. Gleyzer, J. F. McBride, and C. T. Miller. "Enhanced Remediation of a DNAPL Spill in a Two-Dimensional, Heterogeneous Porous Medium." *EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union Fall Meeting*, F257 1995.

Imhoff, P. T., C. T. Miller, and G. Thyrum. "An Analysis and Experimental Study of Dissolution Fingers." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, Spring Meeting, 149 1993.

Kanney, J. F., P. B. Calvin, and C. T. Miller. "The Development of a Flexible, Reusable, and Efficient Simulation Environment for Modeling Multiphase Flow and Transport." Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics Meeting 1995.

------. "Numerical Efficiency of C++ for Scientific Computing." Advanced Simulation of Subsurface Flow and Contaminant Transport Conference, Organized by Cray Research and the North Carolina Supercomputing Center Cray Research, Inc. and the North Carolina Supercomputing Center, 1996.

Kanney, J. F., and C. T. Miller. "Object-Oriented Modeling of Subsurface Flow and Transport Phenomena: Solute Transport and Heterogeneous Sorption Processes." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, S104 1996.

Kelley, C. T., M. D. Tocci, and C. T. Miller. "A Comparison of Methods for Resolving Sharp-Front Infiltration Problems." *Third SIAM Conference on Mathematical and Computational Issues in the Geosciences* Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 1995.

------. "Nonlinear Solver Issues in the Method of Lines Solution of Richards' Equation." SIAM Southeastern Atlantic Section Annual Meeting 1997.

Lowry, M. I., and C. T. Miller. "Pore-Scale Network Modeling of Multiphase Species Transport and Flow." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, Spring Meeting, 124 1993.

Mayer, A. S., and C. T. Miller. "Interactions Between Nonaqueous Phase Liquids and the Aqueous Phase As a Function of Observational Scale." Agronomy Abstracts, Soil Science Society of America Annual Meeting American Society of Agronomy, 1992.

Mayer, A. S., C. T. Miller, and P. B. Calvin. "Mathematical Simulations of the Formation and Dissolution of Residual Nonaqueous Phase Liquids." Gordon Research Conference, Modeling of Flow in Permeable Media 1994.

McBride, J. F., and C. T. Miller. "Considerations on Source-Flux-Limited and Detector-Throughput-Limited Radiation Attenuation Instruments." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union Fall Meeting, F225 1995.

———. "Dual-Radiation-Energy Fluid Saturation Measurement Using X-Ray Attenuation." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, Spring Meeting, 155 1993.

------. "Entrapment of Non-Aqueous Phase Liquids in a Two-Liquid Porous Media System: The Residual-Funicular NAPL-Content Relation." American Geophysical Union Spring Meeting. EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, 1997.

Miller, C. T. "NAPL Residual Formation and Removal in Porous Media Systems." NAPL in the Subsurface: Modeling of Contamination and Remediation Workshop 1996.

------. "Recent Advances in Object-Oriented Scientific Computing." Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Southeastern Section Annual Meeting 1997.

Miller, C. T., and F. H. Cornew. "A Petrov-Galerkin Method for Resolving Advective-Dominated Transport." *IX International Conference on Computational Methods in Water Resources* T. F. Russell, R. E. Ewing, C. A. Brebbia, W. G. Gray, and G. F. Pinder, 157-164 Southampton, UK: Computational Mechanics Publications, 1992.

Miller, C. T., M. W. Farthing, and C. E. Kees. "UNC\_SIM: A Problem-Solving Environment for Simulating Transport Phenomena in Multiphase Systems." Fourth SIAM Conference on Mathematical and Computational Issues in the Geosciences Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 1997.

Miller, C. T., A. Frizzell, L. A. Vancho, P. T. Imhoff, J. F. McBride, and I. Okuda. "An Evaluation of Mass Transfer Phenomena for Enhanced Remediation Processes." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, Fall Meeting, 275 1993.

Miller, C. T., S. N. Gleyzer, P. T. Imhoff, J. F. McBride, J. A. Pedit, and V. R. Raghu. "Multiphase Model Formulation: Issues and Approaches." *Advanced Simulation of Subsurface Flow and Contaminant Transport* Cray Research, Inc. and the North Carolina Supercomputing Center, 1996.

Miller, C. T., E. H. Hill III, and J. F. McBride. "Development and Application of X-Ray Methods to Investigate Multiphase Flow and Transport Phenomena." American Geophysical Union Fall Meeting, F273. EOS Transactions, Baltimore, MD: American Geophysical Union, 1997.

Miller, C. T., M. Hilpert, V. R. Raghu, W. G. Gray, R. Glantz, and C. T. Kelley. "Evolving Models of Multiphase Flow With Mass Transfer Implications." Gordon Research Conference, Modeling of Flow in Permeable Media 1998.

Miller, C. T., P. T. Imhoff, C. S. Willson, S. N. Gleyzer, J. F. McBride, E. H. Hill III, M. W. Farthing, M. H. Arthur, J. L. Hall, and O. Pau. "NAPL Entrapment and Removal in Heterogeneous Porous Media Systems." *International Conference and Special Workshops on Groundwater Quality: Remediation and Protection, GQ98* 1998.

Miller, C. T., J. F. Kanney, M. W. Farthing, C. E. Kees, and S. N. Gleyzer. "Challenges and Approaches to Numerical Modeling of Innovative Subsurface Remediation." *American Geophysical Union Spring Meeting*, S155. EOS Transactions, Baltimore, MD: American Geophysical Union, 1998.

Miller, C. T., J. F. Kanney, and J. A. Pedit. "Modeling Mass Transfer Phenomena in Heterogeneous Subsurface Systems." *Fourth SIAM Conference on Mathematical and Computational Issues in the Geosciences* Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 1997.

Miller, C. T., and A. J. Rabideau. "Simulation of Pump-and-Treat Systems for Sorbing Solutes in Heterogeneous Subsurface Environments." Association of Ground Water Scientists and Engineers 1992.

Miller, C. T., A. J. Rabideau, A. S. Mayer, B. Loftis, and M. R. Houyoux. "Simulating the Fate and Transport of Groundwater Contaminants." Conference on Environmental Impact Prediction, Simulation for Environmental Decision-Making, North Carolina Supercomputing Center 1994.

Miller, C. T., G. A. Williams, and C. T. Kelley. "Efficient and Robust Numerical Modeling of Variably Saturated Flow in Layered and Porous Media." XII International Conference on Computational Methods in Water Resources 1998.

Miller, C. T., C. S. Willson, S. N. Gleyzer, M. W. Farthing, J. F. McBride, and P. T. Imhoff. "NAPL-Aqueous Phase Mass Transfer in Heterogeneous Porous Media." International Conference and Special Workshops on Groundwater Quality: Remediation and Protection, GQ98 1998.

Okuda, I., C. T. Miller, S. N. Gleyzer, and J. F. McBride. "Surfactant-Enhanced Removal of Nonaqueous Phase Liquid From Porous Media." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, 284 1994.

Oliver, D., G. Christakos, and C. T. Miller. "New Results on the Diagrammatic Approach to Stochastic Steady-State, Saturated Flow Modelling." *EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, Spring Meeting*, 157 1993.

Pedit, J. A., and C. T. Miller. "An Analysis of Micro-Scale Heterogeneities for Sorption in Porous Media Systems." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, Fall Meeting, 271 1993.

------. "Modeling Sorption-Desorption in Heterogeneous Subsurface Systems." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, Fall Meeting, 156 1992.

Rabideau, A., and C. T. Miller. "Modeling of Aquifer Remediation for Two-Phase, Stratified Systems." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, Spring Meeting, 155 1993.

------. "Prediction of Cleanup Times for Heterogeneous Aquifers Influenced by Sorption Nonequilibrium: Insights From Numerical Modeling Studies." *National Ground Water Association 46th Annual National Convention and Exposition* 1994.

Raghu, V. R., and G. Christakos. "Spatiotemporal Analysis of Sulfate Deposition Data Over the Conterminous United States." *American Geophysical Union Spring Meeting*, S81. EOS Transactions, 1995.

Serre, M. L., P. Bogaert, and G. Christakos. "Latest Computational Results in Spatiotemporal Prediction Using the Bayesian Maximum Entropy Method." Proceedings of the Fourth Annual Conference of the International Association for Mathematical Geology, 117-22 Naples, Italy: De Frede Editore, 1998.

Thyrum, G. P., P. B. Calvin, P. T. Imhoff, and C. T. Miller. "Effect of Dissolution Fingering on Remediation of NAPL-Contaminated Porous Media." *American Geophysical Union*, 285. EOS Transactions, 1994.

Thyrum, G., P. T. Imhoff, J. F. McBride, and C. T. Miller. "An Examination of the Changing Morphology of NAPL Ganglia During Dissolution." EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, Spring Meeting, 146 1994.

Tocci, M. D., C. T. Kelley, and C. T. Miller. "Accurate Solution of the Pressure Head for of Richards' Equation by the Method of Lines." 1995 SIAM Annual Meeting 1995.

————. "Nonlinear Solver Issues in the Method of Lines Solution of Richards' Equation." Advanced Simulation of Subsurface Flow and Contaminant Transport Cray Research, Inc. and the North Carolina Supercomputing Center, 1996.

Williams, G. A., and C. T. Miller. "An Evaluation of Temporally Adaptive Transformation Approaches for Solving Richards' Equation." *American Geophysical Union Spring Meeting*. EOS Transactions, American Geophysical Union, 1997.

Williams, G. A., C. T. Miller, and C. T. Kelley. "Conservative Transformation Methods

for the Numerical Solution of Variably Saturated Flow in Porous Media." Advanced Simulation of Subsurface Flow and Contaminant Transport Cray Research, Inc. and the North Carolina Supercomputing Center, 1996.

Willson, C. S., C. E. Kees, and C. T. Miller. "Investigation of Three-Fluid-Phase Flow in Porous Media." American Geophysical Union Fall Meeting 1998.

Willson, C. S., O. Pau, and C. T. Miller. "An Analysis of Mass Transfer Limitations for Estimating NAPL Saturations Using Partitioning Tracers." *American Geophysical Union Fall Meeting*, F311 Baltimore, MD: American Geophysical Union, 1997.

Yang, A., and C. T. Miller. "Random Sphere Packings for Examination of Pore-Scale Characteristics." *American Geophysical Union Spring Meeting*, S129. EOS Transactions, 1995.

#### **Technical Reports**

Christakos, G., D. T. Hristopulos, and X. Li. Multiphase Flow in Heterogeneous Porous Media: A Stochastic Differential Geometry Viewpoint, 1997.

Christakos, G., and X. Y. Li. Bayesian Maximum Entropy Analysis and Mapping: A Farewell to Kriging Estimators?, SRG, SM/1.97. University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC, 1997.

Hill III, E. H. A Cosolvent (Methanol) Flush of a DNAPL (PCE) Pool in a Heterogeneous, Two-Dimensional Domain, 1997.

———. Development of Full-Spectrum X-Ray Path-Length Estimators, 1996.

———. DNAPL Pool Formation and the Role of Constitutive Relations, 1997.

———. A Dynamic Pore-Scale Model for Two-Phase Flow, 1996.

———. The Effect of Geometry Bias on Photon-Attenuation Measurement Techniques, 1996.

\_\_\_\_\_. Optimization of Full-Spectrum X-Ray Attenuation Methods, 1997.

Kanney, J. F., and C. T. Miller. OOBR: A Object-Oriented Batch Reaction Module for Split Operator Reactive Transport Codes, Research notes report: RN-OOBR. 1997.

Miller, C. T., J. A. Pedit, A. M. Levert, and A. J. Rabideau. Investigation of

Multicomponent Sorption and Desorption Rates in Saturated Groundwater Systems, 263. The United States Geological Survey and the Water Resources Research Institute of North Carolina, Raleigh, NC, 1992.

Williams, G. A. Conservative Transformation Methods for the Numerical Solution of Variably Saturated Flow in Porous Media, 1997.

#### **Theses and Dissertations**

Avs, M. "Modeling Aquifer Storage and Recovery of Treated Drinking Water." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1993.

Bethea III, J. H. "An Evaluation of Long-Term Sorption Phenomena." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1994.

Cornew, F. H. "An Analysis of Methods for Modeling Advective-Dominated Transport." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1992.

Corson, D. R. "Long-Term Batch Sorption of Naphthalene and Phenanthrene on Sandy Aquifer Materials." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1995.

Frizzell, A. "An Evaluation of Thermal Effects on the Dissolution of Nonaqueous Phase Liquids in Porous Media." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1994.

Grant, J. D. "Development and Analysis of Spatially Adaptive Methods for the Numerical Solution of Richards' Equation." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1994.

Hall, J. L. "Surfactant Enhanced Mobilization of Nonaqueous Phase Liquids in Porous Media." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1997.

Harrington, N. W. "Modeling Subsurface Effects of Organic Waste Land Application." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1993.

Hemmer, P. M. "Investigation of Methods for Determining Hydraulic Property Models for Unsaturated Flow." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1995.

Homewood, S. L. "Analysis of Processes Affecting Subsurface Biodegradation of BTEX Compounds." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1997.

Houyoux, M. R. "An Evaluation of Decision Making for Aquifer Restoration." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 1995.

Lowry, M. I. "Pore-Scale Modeling of Nonwetting-Phase Residual in Porous Media." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1993. Mayer, A. S. "An Investigation of Residual Nonaqueous Phase Liquid Dissolution in Saturated Groundwater Systems." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1992.

Oliver, L. D. "Stochastic Hydrologic Modeling Using Diagrammatic and Space Transformation Techniques." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1994.

Pau, O. "Mass Transfer Rate Limitation Effects on Partitioning Tracer Tests." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1998.

Raghu, V. R. "Numerical Implementation of Spatiotemporal Random Field Model in the Study of Water Quality Data." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 1995.

Thesing, G. "Analysis and Local Estimation of Spatial Data Under the Intrinsic Hypothesis of Spatial Random Fields." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1993.

Thyrum, G. P. "An Investigation of Residual Nonaqueous Phase Liquid Dissolution in Water Saturated Porous Media." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1994.

Vancho, L. A. "The Cosolvent Effect of Methanol on the Equilibrium Between Tetrachloroethylene and Water." Chapel Hill, NC: University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 1994.

Weeber, P. A. "An Integral Continuum Approach to the Formulation of Flow and Transport Equations in Porous Media Systems." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1996.

Williams, G. A. "An Analysis of Adaptive Finite Element Methods for Simulating Two-Dimensional Contaminant Transport in Groundwater Systems." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1992.

Williams, G. A. "Numerical Modeling of Variably Saturated Flow in Porous Media." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1998.

Wisniewski, R. D. "An Analysis of Two-Well Tracer Tests." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 1992.

Yang, A. "Simulating Random Packing of Porous Media." Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 1995.

#### **Participating Personnel**

<u>Principal Investigators</u> Cass T. Miller, Professor (P.I.) George Christakos, Professor (Co-P.I.) Jan F. Prins, Professor (Co-P.I.)

<u>Research Associate Professors</u> Dionissios T. Hristopulos Paul Imhoff

<u>Postdoctoral Research Associates</u> Simon N. Gleyzer Stefan Grimberg T. Kolber I. Okuda Joseph A. Pedit

Former Graduate Students Morris H. Arthur, MS, 1998 J. B. Butterworth, PhD P. Calvin D. R. Corson, MS, 1995 A. Frizzell, MS, 1994 J. D. Grant, MS, 1994 Joy L. Hall, MS, 1998 N. W. Harrington, MS, 1993 P. M. Hemmer, MS, 1995 S. L. Homewood, MS, 1997 M. R. Houyoux, MS, 1995 M. I. Lowry, MS, 1993 L. D. Oliver, PhD, 1994 Oliver Pau, MS, 1998 Joseph A. Pedit, PhD, 1994 A. J. Rabideau, PhD, 1994 V. R. Raghu, MS, 1995 L. A. Vancho, MS, 1994 P. A. Weeber, MS, 1996 Glenn A. Williams; MS, 1992; PhD, 1998 A. Yang, MS, 1995

<u>Current Graduate Students</u> Matthew W. Farthing, PhD student Edward H. Hill III, PhD student Joseph F. Kanney, PhD student Christopher E. Kees, PhD student John F. McBride, PhD student Vijayanivas R. Raghu, PhD student

۰.

### Inventions

----

None

۲

-

-

## Bibliography

All relevant references were listed in the "Publications and Technical Reports" section.

## Appendixes

•

None

٠